

Cavernomas

52

Luca Massimi, Souvik Kar, Mario Giordano, and Helmut Bertalanffy

Contents

Introduction: Terminology and Classification	1170
Epidemiology	1170
Etiology	1171
Pathology	1173
Location and Related Clinical Picture	1174
The Problem of Epileptogenesis	1175
Natural History	1176
Radiological Presentation	1177
Management	1181
Conservative Management	1181
Indications for Surgery and Timing	1182
Main Surgical Issues	1183
Surgery for Brainstem CMs	1188
General Aspects	1188
Anesthesia and Monitoring	1189
Positioning of the Patient	1189
Selection of the Surgical Approach	1190

L. Massimi (🖂)

Pediatric Neurosurgery, Institute of Neurosurgery, Fondazione Policlinico Gemelli, IRCCS, Universitá Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Rome, Italy e-mail: Imassimi@email.it

S. Kar · M. Giordano · H. Bertalanffy International Neuroscience Institute (INI), Hannover, Germany e-mail: kar@ini-hannover.de; giordano.nch@gmail.com; bertalanffy@ini-hannover.de

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 C. Di Rocco et al. (eds.), *Textbook of Pediatric Neurosurgery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-72168-2_52

Surgical Approaches to the Midbrain	1190
Surgical Approaches to the Pons	1190
Surgical Approaches to the Medulla	1190
Selection of the Entry Zone into the Brainstem	1192
Microsurgical Dissection Technique	1192
Clinical Results	1192
Complications	1193
Rebleeding	1193
Nonsurgical Treatments and Conclusions	1194
References	1197

Introduction: Terminology and Classification

Cerebral cavernous malformations (CMs) have since long time been recognized as one of the most common vascular malformations of the central nervous system together with arteriovenous malformations, capillary telangiectasias, and venous angiomas. CMs were also described as occult vascular malformations because no abnormal vascularity is seen on angiography due to the absence of direct arterial input (Attar et al. 2001). The term "cavernous angioma" was first used by Russell and Rubinstein in their description of the pathology of brain lesions (Russell and Rubinstein 1989). CMs are also known as cavernous hemangioma, cavernous venous malformation, or simply cavernoma. The term "cavernous malformation" or "cavernoma" is usually preferred to the term "cavernous angioma" to distinguish CMs from the shunting-associated malformations or the vascular neoplasms (Patel et al. 2012).

By definition, CMs are clusters of sinusoidal vascular channels without intervening parenchyma, well-margined and multilobulated. They were traditionally grouped among the cerebral vascular malformations without shunting together with capillary telangiectasia, sinus pericranii, developmental venous anomaly, and venous varix. On the other hand, the group of vascular malformations with shunting included significantly different lesions, such as arteriovenous malformations, cerebral proliferative angiopathy, dural arteriovenous fistula, dural sinus malformation, pial or subependymal arteriovenous fistula, and vein of Galen aneurysmal malformations. According to the classification of the International Society for the Study of Vascular Anomalies (ISSVA), which has been revised on 2014 (Dasgupta and Fishman 2014), CMs are grouped among the venous malformations (VMs), which are part of the simple vascular malformations (see Tables 1 and 2). VMs are distinguished according to their pathological characteristics and their main genetic background. They can also be part of the combined vascular malformations since VMs can occur together with capillary malformations, lymphatic malformations, and even arteriovenous malformations (Wassef et al. 2015).

Epidemiology

CMs account for 8–10% of all vascular malformations of the central nervous system in children, ranging from 3% to 18% (Aiba et al. 1995; Knerlich-Lukoschus et al. 2015). About 0.4–0.5% of the population is expected to be affected by these lesions, based on both MRI (prevalence: 0.39–0.47%) and necropsy studies (0.53%) (Otten et al. 1989; Robinson et al. 1991). The range of incidence is very large (0.02–0.9%). The imaging prevalence of CMs in children is about 0.6%, and it increases with advancing age (Al-Holou et al. 2012). More than 60% of pediatric CMs are incidentally diagnosed.

All ages are involved, ranging from the neonatal period to the eight to ninth decade, but symptomatic patients are mainly found in the third to sixth decade of life (median age: 35 years). Pediatric CMs account for 25% of all cases. In children, characteristically two peaks of incidence are observed: during the first year of life (22.5%) and

Vascular malformations					
Simple	Combined	Of major named vessels	Associated with other anomalies		
Capillary	Capillary-venous malformation	Affect	Klippel-Trenaunay		
malformations		Lymphatics	syndrome		
Lymphatic	Capillary-lymphatic	Veins	Parkes Weber syndrome		
malformations	malformation	Arteries			
Venous malformations	Capillary-arteriovenous malformation	Anomalies of	Servelle-Martorell		
		Origin	syndrome		
Arteriovenous	Lymphatic-venous	Course	Sturge-Weber syndrome		
malformations	malformation	Number			
Arteriovenous fistula	Capillary-lymphatic-venous malformation	Length	Limb CM + congenital nonprogressive limb		
		Diameter (aplasia,			
		hypoplasia, stenosis, ectasia/	hypertrophy		
		aneurysm)			
	Capillary-lymphatic- arteriovenous malformation	Valves	Mattucci syndrome		
		Communication (AVF)	Macrocephaly		
			Microcephaly		
		Persistence (of embryonal vessel)	CLOVES syndrome		
	Capillary-venous-arteriovenous malformation Capillary-lymphatic-venous- arteriovenous malformation		Proteus syndrome		
			Bannayan-Riley-Ruvalcaba		

Table 1 Classification of vascular malformations. (Modified from ISSVA classification, www.issva.org)

Table 2 Simple vascular malformations III. (Modified from ISSVA classification, www.issva.org)

Venous malformations (VMs)			
	Causal		
Туре	genes		
Common VM	TIE2		
	somatic		
Familial VM cutaneo-mucosal (VMCM)	TIE2		
Blue rubber bleb nevus (Bean)			
syndrome VM			
Glomuvenous malformation (VM with	Glomulin		
glomus cells)			
Cerebral cavernous malformation (CCM)			
CCM1	KRIT1		
CCM2	Malcavernin		
CCM3	PDCD10		

between 12 and 16 years of life (42.5%) (Di Rocco et al. 1996). No sex genetic predisposition is reported.

CMs remain asymptomatic in the majority of patients, becoming symptomatic in only 20–40% of the cases. Usually, sporadic CMs are solitary and tend to remain asymptomatic, while familial CMs can be multiple in number (7–25% of cases)

and disposed to become symptomatic. The incidence of familial cases is about 50% in the Hispano-American population, while it ranges from 10% to 40% in the Caucasian population (Labauge et al. 2007; Riant et al. 2010).

Etiology

The etiology still remains largely unknown. CMs are thought to arise during the early embryogenesis, by a de novo process, or, later, by a de novo or a postirradiation mechanism. Therefore, both a congenital and an acquired genesis can be hypothesized, acting through a proliferating and/or, more probably, a neo-angiogenetic capacity. Radiation is the only well-known cause inducing CMs, and its mechanism seems to be prevalent in children (Heckl et al. 2002; Kleinschmidt-DeMasters and Lillehei 2016). Actually, CMs are the most common radio-induced lesion, as demonstrated by the longitudinal study by Vinchon and coworkers on 552 irradiated children, where 63% among the 95 radio-induced lesions (42 patients) were CMs (Vinchon et al. 2011). The reported 5-year and 10-year incidence after radiation was 2% and 8.9%, respectively. Compared with other radioinduced lesions (tumors), CMs are prone to occur earlier and to affected prevalently male patients and children irradiated at an older age. In the retrospective series of 100 children irradiated for a primary brain tumors (medulloblastoma, ependymoma, germinoma) reported by Di Giannatale and coworkers, CMs occurred in 34% of cases (34 children), with a strong predilection for the cerebral hemispheres (Di Giannatale et al. 2014). No statistical correlation was found between the CMs occurrence and sex, age, chemotherapeutic drugs, and radiation dose. CMs developed more frequently and earlier when radiotherapy was associated with methotrexate. Patients with familial CMs show a high sensitivity to radiation since they have be found to develop an extremely elevated number of CMs (up to 500) after radiation therapy administered for other reasons (Golden et al. 2015b).

A further, clear etiologic mechanism for CMs is represented by the mutation of some genes occurring in familial cases. These cases have been more and more investigated since serial MRIs revealed de novo lesions in families with genetic predisposition to CMs. Familial CMs actually show an autosomal dominant inheritance with incomplete penetrance and variable expression. The incidence of familial forms is particularly high in Hispanic-American patients of Mexican descent (up to 50% of cases), while this rate is lower in other populations (Revencu and Vikkula 2006). The hereditary mutation is linked to three genetic loci (named CCM1, CCM2, and CCM3) for both Hispanic Americans and non-Hispanic families. Overall, the KRIT1/CCM1 mutation accounts for 65-70% of cases, the MGC4607/CCM2 mutation 18%, and the PDCD10/CCM3 mutation 10-15% (Cigoli et al. 2014; Fischer et al. 2013; Riant et al. 2010). More in details:

- CCM genes are expressed in neurons rather than in blood vessels.
- KRIT1 gene (CCM1) is located in the chromosome 7q11–q22 (the involved mutation is a loss of function) whose molecular functions are modulator of ICAP1α, interaction with

malcavernin, and, perhaps, association with microtubules, while the cellular/tissue function involves the cell adhesion/migration and the arterial morphogenesis. It has been demonstrated that the ablation of the KRIT1 gene suppresses the autophagy, leading to the aberrant accumulation of the autophagy adaptor p62/SQSTM1 and to an increased intracellular stress (Marchi et al. 2015). An imperfect autophagy is highly correlated to endothelial-tomesenchymal transition, a crucial event that contributes to CMs progression. Moreover, in mouse models, the acute inactivation of KRIT1 gene leads to the suppression of Thbs1, which encodes thrombospondin1 (TSP1), thus favoring the CMs formation (Lopez-Ramirez et al. 2017). The replacement of thrombospondin 1, indeed, is able to prevent this process.

- MGC4607 gene (malcavernin, CCM2) is located in the chromosome 7p15–13 (the involved mutation could be a loss of function) whose molecular functions are KRIT1 interaction and scaffold for MEEK3, while the cellular functions are not yet known (although a role in the osmoregulation has been hypothesized).
- 4. PDCD10 gene (CCM3) is located in the chromosome 3q25.2–q27 (probably loss of function) with a possible role in the cell apoptosis. CCM3 mutations in human are the more severe form of the disease. CCM3 suppresses UNC13B/VAMP3-dependent exocytosis of angiopoietin-2 (ANGPT2) in brain endothelial cells, which is crucial for the CCM progression (Zhou et al. 2016).
- 5. A "double-hit process" is necessary for the onset of the pathology, where the heterozygous germline CCM mutation is the first one, while a second somatic mutation completes the process (Golden et al. 2015b). For these reasons, a "genetic" origin can be hypothesized also for sporadic CMs though it has not been demonstrated yet. Although various molecular mechanisms such as the PTEN promoter methylation, PI3K/Akt signaling, activated RhoA-ROCK signaling, ERK-MAPK signaling, and ROS signaling have been confirmed to be associated with CMs (Draheim et al. 2014; Goitre et al. 2014; Kar et al. 2015; Lisowska

et al. 2018), the exact pathogenetic molecular mechanism remains elusive. According to experimental studies on mice, endothelial Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) and the gut microbiome could act as stimulants of CMs formation (the activation of TLR4 by gram-negative bacteria or lipopolysaccharide accelerates the process, while genetic or pharmacologic blockade of this signaling prevents CMs formation) (Tang et al. 2017). Therefore, the microbiome and the innate immune signaling could play a role in the genesis of CMs acting on the regulation of brain endothelial cells. Other recent studies demonstrated that small noncoding RNAs (microRNAs, snoRNAs) are involved in CM formation (Kar et al. 2017, 2018). MicroRNAs are short noncoding RNA molecules (about 20-22 nucleotides in length) known to be involved in posttranscriptionally regulating gene expression (Kar et al. 2017). Similarly, snoRNAs are fragments of 60-300 nucleotides in length involved in methylation and pseudouridylation process (Kar et al. 2018). By executing highthroughput RNA sequencing and bioinformatics, the authors have shown for the first time that both the microRNAs and snoRNAs were significantly downregulated in patient tissue samples. Future studies using animal models of cavernous malformations and RNAi mediated silencing functional studies will help in understanding the biology of the disease and therefore aid in defining specific drug targets for therapeutic intervention.

Pathology

CMs macroscopically have a characteristic "mulberry" appearance with engorged purplish clusters of vessels (Fig. 1). They appear as lobulated mass, circumscribed though non-capsulated, usually delimited by gliotic brain. The surrounding brain parenchyma may also show macroscopic hemosiderin deposits and calcifications due to the repeated small hemorrhages that may lead to the enlargement of the lesion. The surrounding hemosiderin staining can be found even in case of asymptomatic, very small hemorrhage (not visible on MRI);



this is because, virtually, all CMs histologically show micro-hemorrhages due to the fragility of the malformed vessels constituting the lesion. The diameter is highly variable, ranging from 1–2 to 90 mm, although the majority of CMs are as small as 5–30 mm (Acciarri et al. 2009; Di Rocco et al. 1997). CMs in children are reported to meanly have larger sizes than in adults. However, there are no significant differences between CMs pathological features in children and adults. Other venous anomalies are associated to CMs in 10–20% of cases, especially when located in the infratentorial space (Knerlich-Lukoschus et al. 2015). Therefore, the occurrence of combined vascular malformations including CMs is not rare (see also Table 1).

As far as the microscopic appearance is concerned, CMs appear as an aggregate of dilated, thin-walled capillaries with a simple endothelial lining and a thin, fibrous adventitia. The vessel walls lack mature components, like elastic fibers and smooth muscles. Ultrastructurally, the main feature is represented by endothelium-lined vascular sinusoids embedded in a dense collagenous matrix, absence or abnormality of blood-brain barrier components, and poorly formed or absent tight junctions between the endothelial cells, with gaps between the cells. No astrocytic foot and no



normal nervous tissue is present within the lesion, and pericytes are rare (Batra et al. 2011). The vascular spaces are separated by fibrous or collagenous tissue. No intervening brain tissue is present in between the vascular channels of the lesion, although such an intervening brain parenchyma can be occasionally found. Usually, it is about gliotic tissue insinuating among the sinusoids. The microscopic analysis of the surrounding brain tissue shows gliosis, hemosiderin due to previous hemorrhages, tissue discoloration, hyalinization, and calcifications; moreover, dilated capillaries (telangiectasias), inflammatory reaction with hemosiderin-laden macrophages, and, rarely, even ossification processes can be found in large lesions.

Immunohistochemically, CMs are positive for vessel markers, such as CD31 (involved in endothelial cells migration and angiogenesis) and smooth muscle actin (SMA); angiogenetic markers, like vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), and transforming growth factor-alpha (TGF-alpha); and platelet vessel wall mediators, as von Willebrand factor and thrombomodulin (Batra et al. 2011). Moreover, pediatric CMs show a diffuse immunostaining for the hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1alpha), which is involved in oxygen homeostasis (Tirakotai et al. 2006).

Location and Related Clinical Picture

CMs occur everywhere along the central nervous system. However, the supratentorial space is much more involved the infratentorial one. Supratentorial CMs actually account for 80% of cases while the infratentorial ones for the remaining 20% (Knerlich-Lukoschus et al. 2015). About 5% of the latter ones are spinal cord CMs: it has been postulated that the location in the spine is so rare because of the small volume of the spinal cord (Acciarri et al. 2009; Di Rocco et al. 1997). The most common location is represented by the frontal (especially, rolandic region) and the temporal lobe, followed by the parieto-occipital lobe (Alexiou et al. 2009; Moran et al. 1999). About 7% of supratentorial CMs are intraventricular. The pons and the cerebellum are the most commonly involved structures of the infratentorial space. Brainstem CMs are more frequent in children than in adults.

Most of CMs remain asymptomatic (and undetected) throughout life. Therefore, the incidental diagnosis is quite common.

As far as symptoms are concerned, the clinical picture can vary significantly according to the location, the size, and the possible hemorrhagic complications. Epileptic seizures are the most common presenting symptoms followed by hemorrhage and focal deficits. Indeed, about 70-80% of the symptomatic patients show a clinical onset with seizures (Alexiou et al. 2009; Kivelev et al. 2011). Moreover, up to 40% of those patients develop an intractable epilepsy (Chang et al. 2009; Di Rocco et al. 1996; Englot et al. 2011). As expected, the longer the history of epilepsy, the lower the rate of resolution of seizures after surgery (Cohen et al. 1995). The high frequency of epileptic seizures can be explained by the increased epileptogenic risk of CMs located in the cerebral cortex, immediate subcortical regions, or adjacent to the amygdale or hippocampus. All types of seizures can occur, the generalized tonic clonic being the most common ones, followed by complex partial and simple partial seizures. In the Moran and coworkers series, generalized, complex, and partial seizures occurred in 43%, 37%, and 20% of cases, respectively (Moran et al. 1999).

Hemorrhagic complications are the second occurring symptom at clinical onset (50% of cases) (Amato et al. 2013; Xia et al. 2009). Children are more prone to develop acute hemorrhage than adults, especially during infancy (Acciarri et al. 2009). In the Di Rocco and coworkers series, the mean age at diagnosis of children with macrohemorrhage was 7 years, while those without hemorrhage showed an 11-year mean age at onset (Di Rocco et al. 1996). Usually, it is about a not severe symptomatology characterized by headache, with or without vomiting. Less commonly, seizures or focal deficits can be associated. Fatal hemorrhages are rarely reported, and, generally, they occur when the posterior fossa is involved (Knerlich-Lukoschus et al. 2015). The cause of the hemorrhage is the fragility of the

sinusoids but its etiology is not known yet. Actually, there is no evidence of association with rise in intravascular pressure, as it happens for highflow malformations, like AVMs or aneurysms. Moreover, in spite of their low-pressure and low-flow, CMs may hesitate in very large hemorrhages.

Chronic and progressing neurological deficits seem to affect mainly infants and young children, where they can present simply as headache and irritability other than focal deficits (Scott et al. 1992). The brainstem accounts for the major risk of focal neurological deficits (namely, cranial nerve palsy) together with the basal ganglia location (hemiparesis or other motor deficits). Because of recurrent, small hemorrhages, CMs may show a fluctuating clinical course (exacerbating periods alternated to remission phases), which can simulate the course of a degenerative neurological disease.

The Problem of Epileptogenesis

The epilepsy associated to CMs deserves a special mention because of the significant impact of this problem in the affected subjects. Actually, 35-80% of the patients with supratentorial location experience first-time seizures. Overall, moreover, up to 40% of them (25% of those without hemorrhage) become drug-resistant (Chang et al. 2009; Moran et al. 1999). The epileptogenesis in patients with CMs remains not completely understood yet. Indeed, CMs are not themselves epileptogenic. Therefore, the epileptic focus is recognized in the cerebral cortex adjacent to the lesion, including the hemosiderin ring. The most important evidence supporting this hypothesis is that the breakdown products caused by the repeated small micro-hemorrhages deposit ferric ions into the surrounding cortex, which are highly epileptogenic. According to some experimental studies, in fact, iron injected into the cortex can result in focal seizures (Sharma et al. 2007).

Such a phenomenon raises the issue of the optimal management of CM-related epileptic seizures, which is still a matter of debate. Considering the natural history of cavernomas, the favorable neurologic and seizure outcome, surgical resection should be considered as a valid option in this subset of patients instead of the sole drug administration. Actually, according to the meta-analyses of the literature, the complete removal of the lesion is one of the major prognostic factors for the favorable outcome in drugresistant patients (Baumann et al. 2007; Kivelev et al. 2011). For this reason, early surgery has been proposed even after a first, isolated seizure as a valuable alternative to the medical treatment, since the 5-year risk of epilepsy after first-ever seizures is as high as 94% (Josephson et al. 2011). The long-term seizure control (Engel class I) ranges from 70% to 85% (Chang et al. 2009; Moran et al. 1999; Mottolese et al. 2001). The factors associated with a good long-term seizure outcome are the adult age (>40 years), an early surgery, the mesiotemporal location, a lesion size less than 1.5 cm, and the absence of secondarily generalized seizures (Baumann et al. 2007). Two factors have been found to further improve the outcome: the removal of hemosiderin ring and the use of ECoG (Chang et al. 2009; Hammen et al. 2007; Stavrou et al. 2008). The former is still debated as predictor of favorable postsurgical seizure control because very good results have been reported after pure lesionectomy (about 70% of late seizure control), so that prospective trials are advocated to determine the role of the hemosiderin ring (Ferroli et al. 2006; Rosenow et al. 2013). However, according to other studies on mixed series, very large the complete lesionectomy with additional removal of the surrounding hemosiderin rim clearly ensures a better outcome if compared with the lesionectomy alone. For example, Baumann and coworkers had 77% of their patients in Engle class I after removal of the hemosiderin ring against 65% after lesionectomy alone (Baumann et al. 2006, 2007). Similarly, Wang and coworkers obtained a 74% and 59.5% Engel class I outcome with the removal of hemosiderin ring at 1-year and 5-year follow-up, respectively, and a 59.5% and 27.8% Engel class I outcome at 1- and 5-year follow-up, respectively, with lesionectomy alone (Wang et al. 2013). EcoCG, on the other hand, is proved to increase by 13% the Engel class I outcome at 1- and 2-year follow-up if compared with

microsurgical excision without EcoCG guidance (Van Gompel et al. 2009). In any case, a multimodal approach with intraoperative MRI, functional neuronavigation, and EcoCG is mandatory for a correct surgical management, especially when dealing with eloquent areas.

Natural History

Once considered as static and not-growing lesions, CMs are instead dynamic lesions which may increase or decrease over the time. Several mechanisms have been advocated to explain such a behavior:

- The slow blood flow typical of these malformations leads to the deposition of red cells and platelet aggregation with subsequent occlusion, hypertension, and rupture of the drainage vessels followed by a hemorrhage into the adjacent parenchyma. This mechanism can explain the CM-related hemorrhagic complications, the growth of the malformation, and, at the same time, its regression (disruption after the hemorrhage or regression because of occlusion of the malformed vessels).
- 2. The recurrent bleedings cause intralesional hematoma undergoing organization with glial reaction, endothelial membrane formation, hemosiderin, and calcium deposits. This event gives reason of the progressive growth of CMs and their pathological features.
- 3. The repeated hemorrhages and the neoendothelization of the hemorrhagic cavities plus the vascular neoformation (from the organized hematoma and the angiogenic factors from the adjacent brain) justify the growing properties of these vascular malformations other than their de novo appearance (growth of otherwise undetectable CMs on MRI).

As mentioned, most of CMs remain silent, although there is not possible to establish the exact rate of asymptomatic and/or undetected malformations. Reliable information on symptomatic subjects, on the other hand, is available. Actually, data from both the past and the current literature show that (Kondziolka et al. 1995; Moore et al. 2014; Ene et al. 2017; Nikoubashman et al. 2015):

- 1. The rate of new CMs would range from 0.2 to 0.4 lesions per patient per year.
- 2. The rate of bleeding is approximately 0.4–2% per year, with a difference between the supratentorial (0.25–1.1%) and the infratentorial space (2–3%). This rate is as low as 0.08% per patient per year if only asymptomatic subjects with incidentally discovered CMs are considered (data about the adult population). The higher risk of bleeding in female subjects is not conformed by several studies.
- 3. The risk of bleeding is higher in children (severe hemorrhage more frequent than in adults) and/or in case of association with other vascular malformations (combined lesions) and/or in familial cases. In spite of these observations, it is hard to explain why some CMs bleed and others do not. It has been hypothesized that completely missing endothelial tight junctions, whose immunohistochemical expression is usually reduced in CMs, can play an important role (Jakimovski et al. 2014). Indeed, CMs without immunoreactivity for the tight junctions are significantly larger and more prone to develop frank hematomas if compared with those with partial expression of tight junctions.
- 4. The risk of a second hemorrhage during next year after the previous one is 4–5% (higher rate in case of deeply located CMs).
- 5. The risk of rebleeding is highest in infratentorial CMs (about 20%).
- 6. The risk of repeated hemorrhages is higher in case of previous bleeding (4.5–60%) compared with absence of previous hemorrhages (0–6%).
- 7. The rate of new onset seizure is about 2.5% per patient per year.

Specific studies in children and young adults have questioned the higher incidence of hemorrhagic complications in children compared with adults (Al-Holou et al. 2012). Accordingly, the overall hemorrhagic risk (natural history group) was 1.6% per patient-year and 0.9% per cavernoma-year. Significantly, it was as high as 8.0% per patient-year in the symptomatic group versus 0.2% in the incidental group. The symptomatic hemorrhage after long-term follow-up was associated with an initial acute presentation. With regard to black dot CMs, the risk of bleeding is 0.7% per lesion per year (Nikoubashman et al. 2013). Children with the PDCD 10 mutation develop over the time more black spot lesions than those with the KRIT1 mutation (mean number of lesions per patient: 23.3 vs. 3.3, respectively).

Radiological Presentation

CMs can be easily detected and correctly diagnosed thanks to the wide diffusion and availability of MRI, which is the modality of choice for their diagnosis. On MRI, CMs appear as wellcircumscribed lesions with a characteristic "popcorn ball" appearance surrounded by a rim of decreased signal intensity due to hemosiderin, which demonstrates prominent blooming on the susceptibility-weighted sequences. Hemorrhages of different ages may be appreciated within or around the lesion, thus making the T1 and T2 signal variable depending on the age of the blood products. CMs usually do not enhance after injection of gadolinium. However, the medium contrast administration is recommended to detect associated vascular anomalies on angiographic sequences. Angio-MRI is able to show CM-associated vascular anomalies in 10-20% of the cases (Gross et al. 2015). Angio-MRI (as well as cerebral angiography) is otherwise normal. The association between CMs and developmental venous anomalies is very common, as demonstrated by Meng and coworkers after the analysis of 165,230 brain MRIs (Meng et al. 2014). The authors actually found an 11.1% prevalence of CMs among patients with venous anomalies, which dropped to 2.3% in those without them. The incidence of CMs was found to be higher in case of venous anomaly with three or more medullary veins in the same MRI scanning section, in case of infratentorial venous anomaly, and in case of multiple venous anomalies.

The gradient echo sequence is particularly sensitive so that it is routinely used when CMs are suspected (Fig. 2), especially in cases with familial or multiple CMs where very small lesions could be missed with the other conventional sequences (Mokin et al. 2017). For the same purpose, in more recent years, the susceptibility-weighted imaging has been developed, thus gaining an increased use so that it is now considered as the gold standard for the diagnosis of small vascular malformations (Fig. 3). Indeed, it shows a higher sensitivity for small vascular lesions and calcification compared to T2 and T2* sequences (Patel et al. 2012; Zhu et al. 2008). Moreover, this sensitivity is so high to obviate the need of contrast-enhanced sequences, which is a significant advantage in the diagnostic work-up children (Young et al. 2017). Radiological studies based on the susceptibility mapping and dynamic contrast-enhanced quantitative perfusion demonstrated that the iron deposition surrounding the lesion is related to the permeability of the CM: the leakier the malformation, the larger the iron deposits (Mikati et al. 2014). These techniques are considered as experimental in the current clinical practice (Mokin et al. 2017). Other specific studies demonstrated that familial CCM1 carriers have a high rate of white matter T2 hyperintensities, other than CMs, compared with the healthy population (Golden et al. 2015a). Such hyperintensities

More in details, CMs can be divided into four main types based on their MRI appearance, according to Zabramski's classification, originally proposed on 1994 (Zabramski et al. 1994). The type I, which occurs in 20% of cases, is a circumscribed, subacute, hemorrhagic lesion, with a T1 hyperintense and a T2 hypo- or hyperintense appearance (Fig. 4). The type II, which is the most frequent and typical lesion (55% of cases), is characterized by recurrent microhemorrhages that lead to the classic popcorn appearance (due to the degrading hemorrhagic products of various ages) with T1 and T2 mixed signal intensity (centrally) and low signal rim with blooming on T2* sequences (Fig. 5). The type III

would be the expression of abnormalities of

endothelial cell junctions.



Fig. 2 Small left frontal CM in an 8-year-old boy. The lesion is partially visible in axial T1W MRI (**a**), while it is

more evident in axial T2W (\mathbf{b}) and, in particular, in axial gradient echo (\mathbf{c})

(10%) appears as a chronic hemorrhagic lesion with a fluid-fluid level. The central part of the lesion is hypointense (T1 and T2) or isointense (T1), while a low signal rim with blooming can be appreciated on T2* sequences (Fig. 6). Finally, the type IV (15%) is characterized by the "black dots" on gradient echo sequence, which are due to multiple punctate (acute) micro-hemorrhages (Fig. 7). The black dots are typical of familial cavernomatosis. They are hard to be identified by conventional T1 and T2 sequences and, sometimes, hard to be differentiated from small capillary telangiectasias by gradient echo sequence.

CT scan has limited utility in the diagnosis of CMs because small lesions cannot be visualized. Actually, CT scan is negative in approximately



Fig. 3 Very small bulbar CM in a 4-year-old boy. The lesion is not visible in standard axial T1W MRI (**a**) and after gadolinium administration (**b**) nor in axial T2W (**c**). It

is appreciable only in axial susceptibility sequence as bilobate blooming (d)

30–50% of cases (Osborn 2016). However, this neuroimaging technique still maintains a certain role thanks to the possibility to suggest the incidental diagnosis in patients undergoing CT scan for different reason (namely, after head injury) and to clearly show one possible complication of

CMs, that is the hemorrhage after rupture of the malformation. Enough large CMs appear as grossly round/ovoid, well-delineated, hyperdense lesions, usually without mass effect unless hemorrhage is present (Fig. 8). Calcifications are detected in 40–60% of cases.



Fig. 4 Axial T2W MRI (a, b) showing a right occipital type I CM according to Zabramski's classification (see text) in a 16-year-old girl



Fig. 5 Coronal T2W (a) and sagittal T1W MRI (b) showing a right parietal type II CM according to Zabramski's classification (see text) in a 5-year-old boy

The main features of CMs on MRI and on other neuroimaging techniques are summarized on Table 3. The differential diagnosis of CMs is with lesion with possible popcorn ball (e.g., hemorrhagic and/or calcified tumors, arteriovenous malformations) or black dot appearance (e.g., capillary telangiectasia, amyloid angiopathy, diffuse axonal injury at late state, hypertensive microbleedings).



Fig. 6 Sagittal T2W MRI showing a right temporal type III CM according to Zabramski's classification (see text) in a 14-year-old girl

Management

Conservative Management

A conservative approach to CMs is advised in asymptomatic patients. This option is usually adopted for asymptomatic children where the diagnosis is obtained incidentally or for those with multiple cavernomatosis. In these instances, serial routine MRIs are performed to monitor possible changes of the lesion as long as the lesion appears stable, with no additional symptoms or evidence of hemorrhage. It is recommended to repeat MRI yearly during the first phases of the follow-up and then each 2 years at least up to the adult age.

The administration of antiepileptic drugs is required in patients with obvious seizures and without surgical indications. According to the only study available so far on the use of antithrombotic agents in CMs, provided by Flemming and coworkers, there is not an adjunctive risk of hemorrhage if aspirin (or anticoagulant drugs) is used (Flemming et al. 2013). Indeed, the prospective hemorrhage rate is 0.41% per person per year.



Fig. 7 Axial (**a**) and coronal T2W MRI (**b**) showing bilateral black dots, that is, type IV CMs, according to Zabramski's classification (see text) in a 13-year-old girl



Fig. 8 CT scan appearance of a right occipito-mesial cavernoma in a standard sequence (**a**) and after administration of iodate medium contrast (**b**) in a 12-year-old boy

Table 3	Main	radiological	features
---------	------	--------------	----------

MRI	СТ	Angiography
T1: variable, popcorn ball appearance (common), homogeneous acute hemorrhage (rare), perilesional hyperintensity	Often normal	Normal (unless associated vascular anomaly is present)
	Hyperdense, well delineated	Contrast blush (rare)
	Calcification: frequent	
T2: mixed, popcorn ball appearance, hypointense (uncommon)	Little or no contrast enhancement	Slow intralesional flow without shunting (rare)
FLAIR: as above but with surrounding edema in case of acute hemorrhage	Angio-CT: normal (unless associated vascular anomaly is	
T2 gradient echo: hypointense blooming, black dots	present)	
DWI: prominent susceptibility effect with normal surrounding brain	-	
Little or no contrast enhancement		
Angio-MRI: normal (unless associated vascular anomaly is present)		

However, caution in the use of antithrombotic drugs is recommended, especially in case of unfavorable natural history (repeated hemorrhages).

Indications for Surgery and Timing

Symptomatic CMs, with or without hemorrhagic complications, on the other hand, represent an

indication for the surgical resection. More in details, the occurrence of progressive neurological deficit and/or intractable epilepsy and/or single hemorrhage in non-eloquent area and/or multiple hemorrhages in eloquent areas associated with deteriorating neurological deficits is the main indication for surgery in supratentorial CMs. As far as infratentorial CMs are concerned, progressive neurological deficit and/or multiple hemorrhages are considered for cerebellar CMs, while recurrent hemorrhages resulting in progressive deficits and/or lesion abuting the brainstem surface and/or lesion causing visible compression are the main factors considered in brainstem CMs. Mouchtouris and coworkers proposed the following, simple protocol for the management of CMs (Mouchtouris et al. 2015): (1) CMs discovered by MRI in patients without clinical presentation (incidental diagnosis) (conservative management and MRI each year) and (2) CMs discovered by MRI in patients with severe clinical presentation (intractable seizures and/or progressive neurological deterioration and/or first, severe hemorrhage in non-eloquent region and/or second severe hemorrhage in eloquent region): surgical resection or alternative treatment (radiosurgery). As expected, if the surgical removal of superficial CMs is widely accepted, the excision of deep-seated CMs is controversial because the benefits of the reduced risk of hemorrhage are counterbalanced by the risk of postoperative morbidity. According to the meta-analysis of the literature carried out by Qiao and coworkers on 34 cohort studies, indeed, the average postsurgical hemorrhage rate was low (1.0%), while the rate of permanent adverse events was quite high (9%) (Qiao et al. 2015). The mean rate of transient neurological deficits was 34.6%, passing from 44.9% before 2006 to 30.3% in the last decade.

Because of the long life expectancy, there is quite a general agreement on the "aggressive" surgical treatment of symptomatic and/or rapidly growing sporadic CMs in children. This attitude is further supported by the low surgical mortality and morbidity (except for brainstem CMs) and by the good recovery from neurological symptoms, usually as high as 80–85% (Acciarri et al. 2009; Alexiou et al. 2009; Kivelev et al. 2011). Regarding multiple CMs, the rule is to follow up them as strictly as possible, reserving surgery to those that have hemorrhaged (becoming symptomatic) or that are quickly growing and causing symptoms. As mentioned, the complete removal of the lesion including the hemosiderin ring is advised to avoid recurrences and to favor the seizure control. Instead, the removal of associated developmental venous anomalies is not required because of the increased risk of venous infarction.

There are no general guidelines for the timing for surgery, since it depends on several factors, such as:

- Patient's clinical conditions. Such a general aspect is important in case of children in poor clinical conditions, where the treatment should be delayed, if the clinical picture does not depend on the CMs, or anticipated as much as possible, if it depends on CMs (e.g., hemorrhagic onset).
- Presence of hemorrhage. Large and/or crucially located hemorrhages (e.g.,posterior cranial fossa) may need a surgical treatment in emergency, while CMs associated with small hemorrhages can be treated with a planned operation or may be even asymptomatic. Elective surgery is performed in case of absence of hemorrhage.
- 3. Presence of refractory seizures. This is a further argument in favor of early surgery because the longer the clinical history of intractable seizures, the lower the rate of postoperative epilepsy disappearance.
- 4. Referral to tertiary centers. Surgery for CMs of the brainstem or other eloquent regions may represent a challenge. Therefore, these patients should be operated on only once referred to centers with an adequate expertise.

Main Surgical Issues

The main goal of surgery is to remove completely the lesion (thus preventing the risk of hemorrhage and, possibly, of epilepsy) without (significant) morbidity for the patient. Such a goal can be reached by a tailored surgical treatment that is carefully planned preoperatively. Surgery for CMs does not differ significantly from that for other intrinsic brain lesions as far as the surgical approach and the microsurgical technique are concerned. However, some distinctive aspects deserve a special mention. They can be summarized as follows:



Fig. 9 Right fronto-basal CM and its mini-invasive management in a 9-year-old girl. (a) Preoperative standard CT scan; (b) axial T2W MRI; (c) trans-eyebrow supraorbital

CMs are benign lesions, usually well differentiated and dissectable from the surrounding cerebral tissues. The risk of postoperative brain swelling is poor, unless intraoperative complication occurs. Therefore, CMs can be safely removed by mini-invasive approaches that should be carefully planned preoperatively according to the location and the characteristics of the lesion. The neuronavigation is often mandatory for this purpose. The goal of the mini-invasive surgery is the neuroprotection, mainly realized through a short surgical route and/or the absence of brain retraction (possibly, trans-sulcal approach), other than the bone sparing and the cosmetic outcome. The transeyebrow supraorbital approach is an example of mini-invasive route for fronto-basal CMs

craniotomy; (d) surgical wound in the early postoperative course; (e) postoperative axial T2W MRI showing the removal of the lesion

- (Fig. 9) as well as the image-guided transsylvian trans-insular approach for the insular ones (Tirakotai et al. 2003). Since the adequate exposure of the lesion is mandatory for its safe radical resection, the mini-invasiveness of the approach should not conflict with a comfortable surgical view.
- A cortical incision is required to get the lesion. To perform a corticectomy as well as its size does not seem to increase the risk of postoperative seizures (Massimi et al. 2018); however, the cortical incision should be carefully planned and limited as much as possible to avoid secondary neurological deficits. In some instances, a hemosiderin-colored cortical surface is present, thus representing an excellent guide for a lesion-centered cortical



Fig. 10 (a) MRI axial view of an epileptogenic left Sylvian CM; (b) intraoperative view of the hemosiderincolored cortical surface (arrow), close to the middle

incision (Fig. 10). In other cases (subcortical or deeply located CMs), such a special "guidance" may be missing so that an image guidance is necessary.

- The neuronavigation is particularly useful for obtaining an access to small and/or deeply located CMs. Preoperative planning and simulation, intraoperative anatomical orientation, avoidance of vital neurovascular structures, and assessment of the extent of the surgical resection are the main goals of the imageguided neuronavigation. The removal of deep-seated CMs may be affected by the brain distortion resulting on a "brain shift effect" on neuronavigation, so that an intraoperative updating may be necessary. The best way to obtain it is intraoperative MRI (or CT scan), which allows an imagingupdating significantly useful also for the evaluation of possible CMs remnants (Bertalanffy et al. in press; Sommer et al. 2013). A different method is represented by the integration between intraoperative ultrasounds and

cerebral artery, revealing the underlying lesion; (**c**) removal of the lesion; (**d**) removal of the surrounding hemosiderin ring; (**e**) final intraoperative view

neuronavigation. CMs, indeed, are quite well visible on ultrasounds, which are an easy and fast way to identify them intraoperatively (Fig. 11). The integration with neuronavigation provides an excellent real-time intraoperative updating that allows the surgeon to maintain the orientation and to assess the extent of the lesion removal (Fig. 12). In specific instances (especially, CMs protruding into the ventricles or the Sylvian fissure), the endoscopic intraoperative assistance is a further, good option to reduce as much as possible the risk of remnants (Villanueva et al. 2015).

The multimodal treatment is mandatory in case of deep-seated CMs or in case of epileptogenic CMs. Other than with the possible help of neuronavigation and intraoperative MRI, brainstem or basal ganglia CMs are now routinely operated under intraoperative monitoring. The continuous stimulation of the somatosensory-evoked potentials (SEEPs), the high voltage vault stimulation of the motor-evoked potentials (MEPs), and the



Fig. 11 (a) Preoperative coronal T2W of a right thalamic CM; (b) intraoperative sagittal/oblique ultrasounds view of the same case

stimulation of the brainstem auditory-evoked potentials (BAEPs) are used for this purpose since long time. In addition, intraoperative electrocorticography is successfully used for epileptogenic CMs. As mentioned above, the removal of the hemosiderin ring surrounding the lesion is associated with an increase rate of improved postoperative seizures so that it is recommended by several authors in case of subcortical CMs with associated epilepsy. The prophylactic removal of this ring in non-epileptogenic subcortical CMS is debated, while its removal in brainstem CMs must be avoided. Before focusing on the hemosiderinloaded parenchyma, however, it is crucial to be sure that all the lesion has been removed. Some simple microsurgical rules have to be followed to achieve this goal:

- 1. To work under high-power magnification.
- 2. To maintain an adequate cleavage plane between the malformation and the healthy parenchyma. Since CMs are often made of separated portions, these latter should be clearly identified and surrounded all by the surgical resection plane. The inspection of the healthy surrounding white matter, at the end of the removal of the lesion, is justified by this purpose. The complete removal of the lesion is mandatory to prevent

recurrence of hemorrhage and seizures (Rosenow et al. 2013).

- 3. To avoid bipolar coagulation (when possible) or to use it with a low-power setting to keep the surgical field clear (excessive coagulation may stick portions of the lesion to the white matter, leading to unnecessary removal of normal tissues or hiding remnants of the malformation) and to limit the damage to the adjacent tissues. Of course, a gentle coagulation is required to interrupt the small vessels feeding or draining the malformation. Instead, the associated venous anomalies must be preserved because their removal is burdened by additional morbidity and does not offer any prognostic advantage.
- 4. To remove in one piece only small CMs or CMs with a surgical access larger than the lesion. Otherwise, it is safer to perform a piecemeal resection with the possibility to shrink by coagulation the fragments of the malformation, once disconnected from the surrounding tissues, to limit as much as possible the enlargement of the surgical corridor.
- All the aforementioned strategies, rules, and technologies are required to face the most challenging CMs, which are those located within



Fig. 12 (a) Left temporo-mesial CM on preoperative coronal T2W MRI; (b, c) intraoperative real-time integration of the same case between ultrasounds (b) and navigated MRI (c)

the brainstem. These CMs are usually treated in case of hemorrhages causing progressive neurological deficits. The purpose of the surgical treatment is just to prevent the risk of rebleeding; therefore, any efforts should be done to completely remove the lesion and to avoid adjunctive neurological deficits to the patients. To achieve this goal, the referral of the affected children to experienced centers is mandatory. Indeed, the risk of new hemorrhage can account for up to 43% of cases in general series, while it drops up to 4.4% when

experienced centers with large series are involved (Bertalanffy et al. 2002; Bozinov et al. 2010; Cenzato et al. 2008). The experience of the referral is based not only on an qualified neurosurgical team but also on a dedicated pediatric surgical, anesthesiological, intensive care unit and rehabilitation team other than a neurophysiological team able to carry out a complete intraoperative electrophysiological monitoring (MEPs and SSEPs for long tracts, ABR, cranial nerve monitoring). Surgery should be performed after an adequate period of steroids administration, which allows the perilesional edema to be re-adsorbed and the hematoma to be organized and partially retracted (thus favoring the dissection manoeuvers) (Wang et al. 2003). The surgical operation must be carefully planned through a meticulous radiological preoperative work-up aiming at assessing the size and the location of the lesion and differentiating it from the hemorrhagic portions. The use of DTI tractography has been proved to be accurate in identifying the corticospinal and the sensory tracts (often displaced, thinned, or interrupted within the brainstem by CMs), thus resulting particularly useful for the preoperative planning (Ulrich et al. 2014).

Brainstem CMs can be approached through many surgical routes, which have to be selected according to the CM location and the possible anatomical damage for the patient (Fig. 13). For the latter reason, a lateral entry to the brainstem should be favored whenever possible (Recalde et al. 2008). According to the exhaustive anatomical study provided by Cavalcanti and coworkers, the following surgical approaches are suggested based on the location of the brainstem lesion (Cavalcanti et al. 2016):

 Midbrain: orbitozygomatic (OZ) or pterional approach (PT) for the anterior surface, OZ or subtemporal approach (ST) for the anterolateral surface, extreme lateral supracerebellar infratentorial approach (SCIT) for the posterolateral surface, and SCIT for the posterior surface

- Pons: retrosigmoid (RS) or retrolabyrinthine (RL) or ST (with anterior petrosectomy and tentorial incision) for the anterior surface, RS for the lateral surface, and midline suboccipital (MSO) with telovelar incision for the posterior surface
- Medulla oblongata: far-lateral approach (FL) for the anterior surface, FL for the lateral lower medulla, FL or RS for the lateral upper medulla, and MSO for the posterior surface

Furthermore, the authors identified several safe entry zones to the midbrain, pons, and medulla oblongata that have to be considered for the preoperative planning.

The next paragraph is fully dedicated to brainstem CMs because of their peculiarities and the challenges related to their treatment.

Surgery for Brainstem CMs

General Aspects

As soon as the surgeon makes a decision that a surgical resection will be carried out due to CMs of the brainstem, the following points need to be considered: (1) to establish the fact that the chances of rebleeding have been completely eliminated and the vascular lesion is completely resected without any residual lesion left behind; (2) to avoid brain retraction, the brainstem should be exposed in such a manner that not only the superficial but also the underlying portions of the vascular malformations are attainable; and (3) to use utmost care to select the appropriate site for the lesion approach for a successful surgical resection. For an efficient surgical strategy, the following points need to be considered: (a) selecting a suitable surgical approach to facilitate a better exposure of the brainstem and reaching out to the CMs without affecting the structures surrounding the brainstem, (b) recruiting an appropriate entry zone to the brainstem, and (c) executing a specialized microsurgical technique to segregate the CM from the surrounding brainstem tissues to enable successful removal of the CM with least manipulation of the brainstem.



Fig. 13 (a, b) Preoperative axial (a) and sagittal T2W MRI (b) showing a posterior pontine CM in a 15-yearold boy; (c, d) same sequences showing the surgical

owing the surgical

Anesthesia and Monitoring

Before the surgical procedure, the details of the surgery must be discussed with the anesthesiologist, so that he/she is prepared to intervene if there are any complications during the surgical procedure. Additionally, electrophysiological monitoring must be carried out with the brainstem in every surgery. This involves continuous monitoring of the sensory and motor pathways (SSEP, MEP) and also the auditory-evoked potentials.

approach (the hemosiderin ring has been left behind)

Positioning of the Patient

The various positioning of the patient are prone, concorde, lateral park bench, supine, as well as

sitting positions. An appropriate selection of the positioning depends on several factors such as the patient's age, general physical status, comorbidity, and the anatomy. Most probably, the sitting position is not preferred in obese and in elderly patients.

Selection of the Surgical Approach

Although a great variety of surgical approaches is available (Bertalanffy et al. 2002; Samii et al. 2001), they provide only exposure of a part of the brainstem, rendering a careful selection approach for a successful surgical procedure. For example, to approach an intrinsic brainstem CM, the well-opted procedure is through the floor of the fourth ventricle. An additional approach is to refrain from skull base approaches, particularly the transpetrosal access routes, since they involve additional risks and are time-consuming. As a principle, we usually restore the bridging veins of the brain and cerebellum.

Surgical Approaches to the Midbrain

The following approaches can applied to the mesencephalic CMs: the anterior interhemispheric subfrontal approach, the cranio-orbitozygomatic approach involving removal of the anterior clinoid process and the trans-sylvian exposure, the subtemporal approach, the supracerebellar lateral approach, and the combined occipital transtentorial approach (Fig. 14a, b). The selection of these approaches is chosen depending on the relationship between the CM and the midbrain tegmentum or midbrain tectum (Fig. 15). For example, while using the subtemporal approach, we place a lumbar CSF drainage prior to the surgery to facilitate the elevation of the temporal lobe. Also separating the vein of Labbé from temporal lobe is crucial to leave the veins in place while carefully elevating the temporal lobe. As a principle, the tentorial edge is separated behind the entry point of the trochlear nerve, and the cut portions are glued laterally with fibrin. Such approach facilitates exposure of the superior portion of the pons and the lateral part of the

midbrain leaving both the trochlear and the oculomotor nerves intact. Vascular lesions extending into the dorsal thalamus can be reached with the supracerebellar paraculminal approach. In cases, where the lesion extends further caudally, the combined supracerebellar and occipital transtentorial approach may serve as an alternative.

Surgical Approaches to the Pons

CMs of the pons might be totally intrinsic and placed inferior to the surface of the brainstem, or they may extend to the surface or grow exophytically out of the brainstem, either anterolaterally, laterally, or posteriorly into the fourth ventricle (Fig. 16). Few of them may be restricted to the pons or may extend superiorly into the midbrain or inferiorly into the medulla (Fig. 17). The most appropriate approaches for exposing the pontine CMs are the subtemporal transtentorial approach, the lateral supracerebellar approach, the retrosigmoidal approach (Fig. 18), the far-lateral transcondylar approach for caudal CMs, and the midline telovelar approach for exposure through the rhomboid fossa. As a matter of fact, it is always safe to expose the intrinsic lesion laterally than traversing the floor of the fourth ventricle. Vital structures such as the posterior longitudinal fascicle, the facial nerve fibers, and the sixth nerve nucleus can be easily restored when using the lateral access route.

Surgical Approaches to the Medulla

CMs situated at the lowest part of the brainstem within the medulla are exposed either via a midline suboccipital craniotomy and telovelar approach, or laterally and anterolaterally using the far-lateral transcondylar approach (Fig. 19). However, surgical manipulation within the medulla must be performed with utmost care in order to avoid damage to the densely packed anatomical structures. Anatomical distribution is aided by the specific shape and outer aspect of medulla where the pyramidal tracts, the olive, the lower rhomboid fossa, and the cranial nerve rootlets, IX, X, XI, and XII, can clearly be identified.



Fig. 14 (a) Axial (a), coronal (b), and sagittal (c) T2w preoperative MRI showing a CM of the right midbrain tegmentum, with fresh intralesional hemorrhage and perilesional edema, in an 11-year-old girl suffering from diplopia and vertigo. The postoperative MRI (d-f)

demonstrates the complete removal of the lesion; the surrounding hemosiderin deposits are within the normal parenchyma and do not representing a pathological finding. (b) The girl was operated on in semisitting position through a right-sided lateral retrosigmoid approach (a).

Selection of the Entry Zone into the Brainstem

Generally, three different conditions should be considered for the selection of the entry zone. First, selecting suitable entry zone for intraaxially located CMs which have no direct relationships with the brainstem surface is one of the most challenging steps of the procedure. Second, intrinsic lesions reaching the brainstem surface and bulging out due to an underlying hematoma might not be detectable in some cases, while in other cases a small portion of the lesion might be visible under the ependymal surface of the brainstem. Third, certain lesions remain exophytic, with one portion located within the parenchymal tissue and the other being either in the cisternal space or within the fourth ventricle. For instance, where the brainstem surface is bulging, it is appropriate to open the brainstem where the lesion is suspected to be closest to the surface. We observed that the area of the facial colliculus differ significantly in the same patient, and therefore, electrophysiological monitoring of the facial colliculus is essential in all cases.

For large lesions, it is advisable that the opening of the brainstem should not exceed 10 mm. The principle behind this approach is that even the superficial fibers of the brainstem can be dilated slowly while keeping them intact throughout the surgical manipulation.

Microsurgical Dissection Technique

CMs are morphologically heterogenous lesions; moreover, only a limited surgical field is visible during the surgical intervention. The first point is to always determine the dissection plane between the lesion and the brainstem parenchyma. Such a procedure, by applying bipolar coagulation at low current intensity, facilitates separation of the lesion from the surrounding brainstem. In contrast to other tumors which are homogenous in nature, CMs are heterogenous consisting on one hand of soft caverns that can be coagulated to decrease the lesion volume and, on the other hand, several hematoma cavities of various sizes that can be aspirated to further decrease the lesion volume. In some CMs, draining veins may be present, often related to an adjacent venous malformation. Both the arteries and veins need to be carefully coagulated and finely cut with microscissors. Utmost care must be taken while introducing and removing surgical instruments into the deepseated surgical field to avoid damaging the superficial parts of the brain.

Clinical Results

Based on the number of reports, the success of the removal of brainstem CMs has gradually increased in the recent years. As there are no standardized methods for uniform evaluation of the postoperative outcomes, the evaluation method, therefore, varies from author to author. Proper clinical evaluation must include the patient immediate postoperative complications, new neurological complications, and the assessment of total lesion removal as estimated by a postoperative MRI. Executing the Karnofsky rating scale is very helpful in determining the detailed postoperative outcome. In a previously published adult patient series (Bertalanffy et al. 2002), we have evaluated the patient's quality of life in the first 71 consecutive patients using the Short Form-36 questionnaire (SF-36) and the Karnofsky Performance Status Scale. The Karnofsky Status improved in 44 out of 71 surgical cases (62%), remained unchanged in 19 (27%), and deteriorated in 8 patient individuals (11%). Also, 58% patients (82%) demonstrated a clear subjective improvement from the surgery. In general, in the

Fig. 14 (continued) The lesion was exposed via the lateral supracerebellar transtentorial route, and the entry point into the midbrain was at the level of the lateral mesencephalic

sulcus (b). The lesion was completely removed microsurgically (c). The patient experienced no additional neurological deficits postoperatively (d)



Fig. 15 Preop axial T2w (**a**) and sagittal (**b**) and coronal medium contrast T1w MRI (**c**) of an 8-year-old girl with brain cavernomatosis and large midbrain CM. She was operated on in supine position through a combined temporobasal and retrosigmoid craniotomy (previous

operations at another Institution) (**f**). A gross total resection of the lesion was realized as showed by postoperative MRI (**d**, **e**). In spite of the preoperative deficits (upper limbs motor imbalance and right VII cranial nerve palsy), her postoperative condition was satisfactory (**g**)

patient series comprising more than 130 surgically operated individuals, 36% showed improvement in the early postoperative period, 33% remained unchanged, and 31% deteriorated, where in the latter case, approximately three-quarters (74%) developed only temporary neurological deficits (Bertalanffy et al. 2011). The long-term followup showed that 89% of our patients either improved clinically or remained in the same neurological condition as preoperatively. Only 9% patients experienced new and permanent deficits.

Complications

Postoperative morbidity in patients undergoing brainstem surgery may be caused by direct surgical manipulation, by local vascular factors, or by an associated coagulopathy. Neurological deficits can be considered as an acceptable postoperative morbidity if they resolve within a few weeks or months. In cases where the deficit persists for a longer time period, such as complete oculomotor nerve paresis found in three patients of our personal series, they should be considered as permanent and undesired complication. Only one case, a 65-year-old female who harbored a medullary CM with a previous history of breast cancer, died unfortunately 4 weeks after surgery, accounting for a mortality of 0.7% (Bertalanffy et al. 2011).

Rebleeding

Hemorrhage following a neurosurgical intervention for brainstem CMs is an uncommon event. If there is a significant rebleeding after surgery, the operation should be considered as unsuccessful.



Fig. 16 Preoperative axial (**a**) and sagittal T2w MRI (**b**) of a 15-year-old girl with multiple CMs of the brainstem. Only the posterior pontine CM was hemorrhagic (arrows) as revealed by the surrounding edema. Surgery was carried out in semisitting position through a midline suboccipital craniotomy, exposure of the rhomboid fossa (**c**), and

complete removal of the hemorrhagic lesion (**d** arrow), as confirmed by the postoperative MRI (**e**, **f**). The preoperative symptoms (nausea, vomiting, headache, fatigue, hiccups, nystagmus) improved quickly, and, 4 months after surgery, the patient is asymptomatic (**g**)

However, CMs are dynamic lesions and can occur de novo; therefore, the absence of postoperative bleeding cannot be guaranteed in all cases. In the personal surgical series, postoperative bleeding was observed in six patients, accounting for a rebleeding rate of 4.4% (Bertalanffy et al. 2011). Only in one patient there was a fresh hemorrhage immediately after surgery, as detected by control CT scans which was subsequently evacuated revealing no obvious remnants of the CM. In other five cases, the time period of rebleeding was between 1 week and 4 years postoperatively. Only two of them were pregnant when the rebleeding occurred, and the CM remnants were detected in both of them during the second procedure. The clinical course following this second intervention in both the patients was uneventful.

Nonsurgical Treatments and Conclusions

The occurrence of CMs in regions not favorable for surgery, like eloquent areas and brainstem, raises the question of the utility of alternative, nonsurgical treatments. Radiosurgery has gained a certain interest in the management of CMs, especially in the adult population, for deep-seated and/or eloquent areas lesions. The so-called "stereotactic" techniques (gamma-knife, rotating gamma-system), indeed, have been used with success with a mean 20 Gy single-dose fraction (range: 14–26 Gy) (Mouchtouris et al. 2015; Phuong et al. 2017). The main indication is represented by relatively small, symptomatic,



Fig. 17 Preoperative axial T1w (**a**) and T2w (**b**), coronal T2w (**c**), and sagittal T2wMRI (**d**) of a 3-year-old boy with ponto-bulbar CM that was completely excised via right-sided retrosigmoid approach, as showed by the

and not surgically approachable CMs. The results of radiosurgery are good in preventing the CMs natural history and in improving symptoms. The mechanism is related to the progressive obliteration of the CM due to the radiation-induced proliferation of endothelial cells, which takes place 1-3 years after the treatment (Schneider et al.

postoperative medium contrast MRI (e-g). The preoperative symptoms (weakness of left leg and arm and headache) clearly improved within the following 8 weeks, except for the right sixth cranial nerve palsy

1997). However, the response to radiosurgery is prevalently partial as far as clinical symptoms (namely, headache), clinical signs (namely, seizures), and lesion size on MRI are concerned (Phuong et al. 2017). The risk of clinical and radiological progression is low. Radiosurgery has been successfully utilized also for brainstem



Fig. 18 Preoperative axial T1w (**a**) and coronal (**b**) and sagittal T2w MRI (**c**) of a 3-year-old girl showing a large residual and rebleeding CM of the anterolateral aspect of the pons (the child was operated on elsewhere when she was 2 years old after a first hemorrhage causing left hemiparesis, right facial nerve palsy, and walking

CMs, using a low marginal dose treatment to reduce the risk of adverse effects (Liu et al. 2016). Nevertheless, the use of this kind of treatment is debated because of the not negligible risk of bleeding (in the short-term course) and new neurological deficits and the adverse effects of radiation (radiation necrosis, cognitive delay, endocrinological deficits, second tumors) (Acciarri et al. 2009; Bertalanffy and Gerganov 2013; Nagy and Kemeny 2013). According to the meta-analysis of the literature performed by Mouchtouris et al. (2015), indeed, the risk of recurrent hemorrhage within the first 2 years from radiosurgery ranges from 7.06% to 14% (versus an overall 0.4-8.8% risk after surgery), and then it drops to 0.6-2.03% after 2 years. Moreover, the occurrence of new neurological deficits is not poor after radiosurgery (7.3-22.2%) even if compared with surgery (10.8-36%). Finally, the most important argument against radiosurgery is the risk of radiation-

imbalance). Surgery was done with the girl in supine position, through a right retrosigmoid route (d), obtaining a complete removal of the CM (e-g). The patient's clinical condition gradually improved, but her deficits partially persist (h)

induced adverse effect (4.1–18.4%), which is absent after surgery. Therefore, the use of radiosurgery in children is considered only in very selected cases (residual CMs in eloquent region with recurrent hemorrhages).

Another treatment that is rising interest and discussion is the use of propranolol. This drug has been successfully used in the management of cutaneous hemangiomas because the betablockage is able to induce apoptosis in capillary endothelial cells (Leaute-Labreze et al. 2008; Sommers Smith and Smith 2002). The current experience on intracranial CMs is limited to some case reports/small series where propranolol has been used at a dose of 10-30 mg/day in adults and 2 mg/Kg/day in children obtaining the regression of small CMs or the shrinkage of a giant CM (Reinhard et al. 2016; Zabramski et al. 2016). The treatment was able also to reduce the number of small CMs in case of cavernomatosis or to stop recurrent hemorrhages in a further case (Berti



Fig. 19 Preoperative T2w axial (**a**) and coronal MRI (**b**) of a 15-year-old boy with lower pontine lesion extending into the upper medulla, causing mass effect and perilesional edema. Surgery was carried out in emergency because of rapid worsening of preoperative deficits (right

et al. 2014; Miquel et al. 2014; Moschovi et al. 2010). Because of the limited (although encouraging) experience, specific trials are needed to validate this kind of treatment.

References

- Acciarri N, Galassi E, Giulioni M, Pozzati E, Grasso V, Palandri G, Badaloni F, Zucchelli M, Calbucci F (2009) Cavernous malformations of the central nervous system in the pediatric age group. Pediatr Neurosurg 45:81–104
- Aiba T, Tanaka R, Koike T, Kameyama S, Takeda N, Komata T (1995) Natural history of intracranial cavernous malformations. J Neurosurg 83:56–59
- Alexiou GA, Mpairamidis E, Sfakianos G, Prodromou N (2009) Surgical management of brain cavernomas in children. Pediatr Neurosurg 45:375–378
- Al-Holou WN, O'Lynnger TM, Pandey AS, Gemmete JJ, Thompson BG, Muraszko KM, Garton HJ, Maher CO

sixth cranial nerve palsy and hemiparesis). The CM was completely removed (postoperative MRI, \mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}) by a leftsided transcondylar approach in semisitting position (\mathbf{e}). The preoperative deficits progressively disappeared after surgery (\mathbf{f} , \mathbf{g})

(2012) Natural history and imaging prevalence of cavernous malformations in children and young adults. J Neurosurg Pediatr 9:198–205

- Amato MC, Madureira JF, Oliveira RS (2013) Intracranial cavernous malformation in children: a single-centered experience with 30 consecutive cases. Arq Neuropsiquiatr 71:220–228
- Attar A, Ugur HC, Savas A, Yuceer N, Egemen N (2001) Surgical treatment of intracranial cavernous angiomas. J Clin Neurosci 8:235–239
- Batra S, Crain B, Engelmann R, Camara-Quintana J, Rigamonti D (2011) Pathology of cavernous malformations. In: Rigamonti D (ed) Cavernous malformations of the nervous system. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 1–7
- Baumann CR, Schuknecht B, Lo Russo G, Cossu M, Citterio A, Andermann F, Siegel AM (2006) Seizure outcome after resection of cavernous malformations is better when surrounding hemosiderin-stained brain also is removed. Epilepsia 47:563–566
- Baumann CR, Acciarri N, Bertalanffy H, Devinsky O, Elger CE, Lo Russo G, Cossu M, Sure U, Singh A,

Stefan H, Hammen T, Georgiadis D, Baumgartner RW, Andermann F, Siegel AM (2007) Seizure outcome after resection of supratentorial cavernous malformations: a study of 168 patients. Epilepsia 48:559–563

- Bertalanffy H, Gerganov VM (2013) Microsurgical or radiosurgical management of intracranial cavernomas. Acta Neurochir Suppl 116:103–106
- Bertalanffy H, Benes L, Miyazawa T, Alberti O, Siegel AM, Sure U (2002) Cerebral cavernomas in the adult. Review of the literature and analysis of 72 surgically treated patients. Neurosurg Rev 25:1–53
- Bertalanffy H, Burkhardt JK, Alfons Kockro R, Bozinov O, Sarnthein J (2011) Resection of cavernous malformations of the brainstem. In: Rigamonti D (ed) Cavernous malformations of the nervous system. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 142–160
- Bertalanffy H, Gerganov V, Paterno V (in press) Surgical management of supratentorial cavernous malformations. In: Spetzler R et al (eds) Neurovascular Surgery. Thieme Medical Publishers, New York, pp 419–435
- Berti I, Marchetti F, Skabar A, Zennaro F, Zanon D, Ventura A (2014) Propranolol for cerebral cavernous angiomatosis: a magic bullet. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 53:189–190
- Bozinov O, Hatano T, Sarntheina J, Burkhardta JK, Bertalanffy H (2010) Current clinical management of brainstem cavernomas. Swiss Med Wkly 140:w13120
- Cavalcanti DD, Preul MC, Kalani MYS, Spetzler RF (2016) Microsurgical anatomy of safe entry zones to the brainstem. J Neurosurg 124:1359–1376
- Cenzato M, Stefini R, Ambrosi C, Giovanelli M (2008) Post-operative remnants of brainstem cavernomas: incidence, risk factors and management. Acta Neurochir 150:879–886
- Chang EF, Gabriel RA, Potts MB, Garcia PA, Barbaro NM, Lawton MT (2009) Seizure characteristics and control after microsurgical resection of supratentorial cerebral cavernous malformations. Neurosurgery 65:31–37
- Cigoli MS, Avemaria F, De Benedetti S, Gesu GP, Accorsi LG, Parmigiani S, Corona MF, Capra V, Mosca A, Giovannini S, Notturno F, Ciccocioppo F, Volpi L, Estienne M, De Michele G, Antenora A, Bilo L, Tavoni A, Zamponi N, Alfei E, Baranello G, Riva D, Penco S (2014) PDCD10 gene mutations in multiple cerebral cavernous malformations. PLoS One 9: e110438
- Cohen DS, Zubay GP, Goodman RR (1995) Seizure outcome after lesionectomy for cavernous malformations. J Neurosurg 83:237–242
- Dasgupta R, Fishman SJ (2014) ISSVA classification. Semin Pediatr Surg 23:158–161
- Di Giannatale A, Morana G, Rossi A, Cama A, Bertoluzzo L, Barra S, Nozza P, Milanaccio C, Consales A, Garrè ML (2014) Natural history of cavernous malformations in children with brain tumors treated with radiotherapy and chemotherapy. J Neuro-Oncol 117:311–320

- Di Rocco C, Iannelli A, Tamburrini G (1996) Cavernomas of the central nervous system in children. A report of 22 cases. Acta Neurochir 138:1267–1274
- Di Rocco C, Iannelli A, Tamburrini G (1997) Surgical management of paediatric cerebral cavernomas. J Neurosurg Sci 41:343–347
- Draheim KM, Fisher OS, Boggon TJ, Calderwood DA (2014) Cerebral cavernous malformation proteins at a glance. J Cell Sci 127:701–707
- Ene C, Kaul A, Kim L (2017) Natural history of cerebral cavernous malformations. Handb Clin Neurol 143:227–232
- Englot DJ, Han SJ, Lawton MT, Chang EF (2011) Predictors of seizure freedom in the surgical treatment of supratentorial cavernous malformations. J Neurosurg 115:1169–1174
- Ferroli P, Casazza M, Marras C, Mendola C, Franzini A, Broggi G (2006) Cerebral cavernomas and seizures: a retrospective study on 163 patients who underwent pure lesionectomy. Neurol Sci 26:390–394
- Fischer A, Zalvide J, Faurobert E, Albiges-Rizo C, Tournier-Lasserve E (2013) Cerebral cavernous malformations: from CCM genes to endothelial cell homeostasis. Trends Mol Med 19:302–308
- Flemming KD, Link MJ, Christianson TJ, Brown RD Jr (2013) Use of antithrombotic agents in patients with intracerebral cavernous malformations. J Neurosurg 118:43–46
- Goitre L, De Luca E, Braggion S, Trapani E, Guglielmotto M, Biasi F, Forni M, Moglia A, Trabalzini L, Retta SF (2014) KRIT1 loss of function causes a ROS-dependent upregulation of c-Jun. Free Radic Biol Med 68:134–147
- Golden MJ, Morrison LA, Kim H, Hart BL (2015a) Increased number of white matter lesions in patients with familial cerebral cavernous malformations. AJNR 36:899–903
- Golden M, Saeidi S, Liem B, Marchand E, Morrison L, Hart B (2015b) Sensitivity of patients with familial cerebral cavernous malformations to therapeutic radiation. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 59:134–136
- Gross BA, Du R, Orbach DB, Scott RM, Smith ER (2015) The natural history of cerebral cavernous malformations in children. J Neurosur Pediatr 16:1–6
- Hammen T, Romstöck J, Dörfler A, Kerling F, Buchfelder M, Stefan H (2007) Prediction of postoperative outcome with special respect to removal of hemosiderin fringe: a study in patients with cavernous haemangiomas associated with symptomatic epilepsy. Seizure 16:248–253
- Heckl S, Aschoff A, Kunze S (2002) Radiation-induced cavernous hemangiomas of the brain: a late effect predominantly in children. Cancer 94:3285–3291
- Jakimovski D, Schneider H, Frei K, Kennes LN, Bertalanffy H (2014) Bleeding propensity of cavernous malformations: impact of tight junction alterations on the occurrence of overt hematoma. J Neurosurg 121:613–620

- Josephson C, Leach J, Duncan R, Roberts R, Counsell C, Salman R (2011) Seizure risk from cavernous or arteriovenous malformations prospective population-based study. Neurology 76:1548–1554
- Kar S, Samii A, Bertalanffy H (2015) PTEN/PI3K/Akt/ VEGF signaling and the cross talk to KRIT1, CCM2, and PDCD10 proteins in cerebral cavernous malformations. Neurosurg Rev 38:229–236
- Kar S, Bali KK, Baisantry A, Geffers R, Samii A, Bertalanffy H (2017) Genome-wide sequencing reveals MicroRNAs downregulated in cerebral cavernous malformations. J Mol Neurosci 61:178–188
- Kar S, Bali KK, Baisantry A, Geffers R, Hartmann C, Samii A, Bertalanffy H (2018) Genome-wide sequencing reveals small nucleolar RNAs downregulated in cerebral cavernous malformations. Cell Mol Neurobiol. Jul 10 (epub ahead of print). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10571-018-0602-9
- Kivelev J, Niemelä M, Blomstedt G, Roivainen R, Lehecka M, Hernesniemi J (2011) Microsurgical treatment of temporal lobe cavernomas. Acta Neurochir 153:261–270
- Kleinschmidt-DeMasters BK, Lillehei KO (2016) Radiation-induced cerebral vascular "malformations" at biopsy. Neuropathol Exp Neurol 75:1081–1092
- Knerlich-Lukoschus F, Steinbok P, Dunham C, Cochrane DD (2015) Cerebellar cavernous malformation in pediatric patients: defining clinical, neuroimaging, and therapeutic characteristics. J Neurosurg Pediatr 16:256– 266
- Kondziolka D, Lunsford LD, Kestle JR (1995) The natural history of cerebral cavernous malformations. J Neurosurg 83:820–824
- Labauge P, Denier C, Bergametti F, Tournier-Lasserve E (2007) Genetics of cavernous angiomas. Lancet Neurol 6:237–244
- Leaute-Labreze C, Dumas de la Roque E, Hubiche T, Boralevi F, Thambo JB, Taïeb A (2008) Propranolol for severe hemangiomas of infancy. N Engl J Med 358:2649–2651
- Lisowska J, Rodel CJ, Manet S, Miroshnikova YA, Boyault C, Planus E, De Mets R, Lee HH, Destaing O, Mertani H, Boulday G, Tournier-Lasserve-E, Balland M, Abdelilah-Seyfried S, Albiges-Rizo C, Faurobert E (2018) The CCM1-CCM2 complex controls complementary functions of ROCK1 and ROCK2 that are required for endothelial integrity. J Cell Sci 131(15):jcs216093
- Liu HB, Wang Y, Yang S, Gong FL, Xu YY, Wang W (2016) Gamma knife radiosurgery for brainstem cavernous malformations. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 151:55– 60
- Lopez-Ramirez MA, Fonseca G, Zeineddine HA, Girard R, Moore T, Pham A, Cao Y, Shenkar R, de Kreuk BJ, Lagarrigue F, Lawler J, Glass CK, Awad IA, Ginsberg MH (2017) Thrombospondin1 (TSP1) replacement prevents cerebral cavernous malformations. J Exp Med 214:3331–3346

- Marchi S, Corricelli M, Trapani E, Bravi L, Pittaro A, Delle Monache S, Ferroni L, Patergnani S, Missiroli S, Goitre L, Trabalzini L, Rimessi A, Giorgi C, Zavan B, Cassoni P, Dejana E, Retta SF, Pinton P (2015) Defective autophagy is a key feature of cerebral cavernous malformations. EMBO Mol Med 7:1403–1417
- Massimi L, Battaglia D, Bianchi F, Peraio S, Peppucci E, Di Rocco C (2018) Postoperative epileptic seizures in children: is the brain incision a risk factor? Neurosurgery 82:465–472
- Meng G, Bai C, Yu T, Wu Z, Liu X, Zhang J, Zhao J (2014) The association between cerebral developmental venous anomaly and concomitant cavernous malformation: an observational study using magnetic resonance imaging. BMC Neurol 14:50
- Mikati AG, Tan H, Shenkar R, Li L, Zhang L, Guo X, Larsson HB, Shi C, Liu T, Wang Y, Shah A, Edelman RR, Christoforidis G, Awad I (2014) Dynamic permeability and quantitative susceptibility: related imaging biomarkers in cerebral cavernous malformations. Stroke 45:598–601
- Miquel J, Bruneau B, Dupuy A (2014) Successful treatment of multifocal intracerebral and spinal hemangiomas with propranolol. J Am Acad Dermatol 70:e83– e84
- Mokin M, Agazzi S, Dawson L, Primiani CT (2017) Neuroimaging of cavernous malformations. Curr Pain Headache Rep 21:47
- Moore SA, Brown RD Jr, Christianson TJ, Flemming KD (2014) Long-term natural history of incidentally discovered cavernous malformations in a single-center cohort. J Neurosurg 120:1188–1192
- Moran NF, Fish DR, Kitchen N, Shorvon S, Kendall BE, Stevens JM (1999) Supratentorial cavernous haemangiomas and epilepsy: a review of the literature and case series. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 66:561– 568
- Moschovi M, Alexiou GA, Tourkantoni N, Prodromou N (2010) Propranolol treatment for a giant infantile brain cavernoma. J Child Neurol 25:653–655
- Mottolese C, Hermier M, Stan H, Jouvet A, Saint-Pierre G, Froment JC, Bret P, Lapras C (2001) Central nervous system cavernomas in the pediatric age group. Neurosurg Rev 24:55–71
- Mouchtouris N, Chalouhi N, Chitale A, Starke RM, Tjoumakaris SI, Rosenwasser RH, Jabbour PM (2015) Management of cerebral cavernous malformations: from diagnosis to treatment. Sci World J 2015:808314
- Nagy G, Kemeny AA (2013) Stereotactic radiosurgery of intracranial cavernous malformations. Neurosurg Clin N Am 24:575–589
- Nikoubashman O, Wiesmann M, Tournier-Lasserve E, Mankad K, Bourgeois M, Brunelle F, Sainte-Rose C, Wiesmann M, Zerah M, Di Rocco F (2013) Natural history of cerebral dot-like cavernomas. Clin Radiol 68: e453–e459
- Nikoubashman O, Di Rocco F, Davagnanam I, Mankad K, Zerah M, Wiesmann M (2015) Prospective hemorrhage

rates of cerebral cavernous malformations in children and adolescents based on MRI appearance. Am J Neuroradiol 36: 2177–2783

- Osborn AG (2016) Cavernous malformation. In: Osborn AG, Salzman KL, Jhaveri MD (eds) Diagnostic imaging: brain, 3rd edn. Elsevier, Philadelphia, pp 420–423
- Otten P, Pizzolato GP, Rilliet B, Berney J (1989) 131 cases of cavernous angioma (cavernomas) of the CNS, discovered by retrospective analysis of 24,535 autopsies. Neurochirurgie 35:82–83. (article in French)
- Patel PA, Amin-Hanjani S, Ogilvy SC (2012) Surgical management of cavernous malformations of the nervous system. In: Quiñones-Hinoiosa A (ed) Schmidek and sweet operative neurosurgical techniques, 6th edn. Elsevier, Philadelphia, pp 977–993
- Phuong PC, Luan ND, Trang VTH, Schild SE, Rades D, Khoa MT (2017) Radiosurgery with a rotating gamma system: a very effective treatment for symptomatic cerebral cavernomas. Anticancer Res 37:3729–3733
- Qiao N, Ma Z, Song J, Wang Y, Shou X, Zhang X, Shen M, Qiu H, Ye Z, He W, Li S, Fu C, Zhao Y (2015) A systematic review and meta-analysis of surgeries performed for treating deep-seated cerebral cavernous malformations. Br J Neurosurg 29:493–499
- Recalde RJ, Figueiredo EG, de Oliveira E (2008) Microsurgical anatomy of the safe entry zones on the anterolateral brainstem related to surgical approaches to cavernous malformations. Neurosurgery 62:9–15
- Reinhard M, Schuchardt F, Meckel S, Heinz J, Felbor U, Sure U, Geisen U (2016) Propranolol stops progressive multiple cerebral cavernoma in an adult patient. J Neurol Sci 367:15–17
- Revencu N, Vikkula M (2006) Cerebral cavernous malformation: new molecular and clinical insights. J Med Genet 43:716–721
- Riant F, Bergametti F, Ayrignac X, Boulday G, Tournier-Lasserve E (2010) Recent insights into cerebral cavernous malformations: the molecular genetics of CCM. FEBS J 277:1070–1075
- Robinson JR, Awad IA, Little JR (1991) Natural history of the cavernous angioma. J Neurosurg 75:709–714
- Rosenow F, Alonso-Vanegas MA, Baumgartner C, Blumcke I, Carreno M, Gizewski ER, Hamer HM, Knake S, Kahane P, Luders HO, Mathern GW, Menzler K, Miller J, Otsuki T, Ozkara C, Pitkanen A, Roper SN, Sakamoto AC, Sure U, Walker MC, Steinhoff BJ (2013) Cavernoma-related epilepsy: review and recommendations for management – report of the surgical task force of the ILAE commission on therapeutic strategies. Epilepsia 54:2025–2035
- Russell D, Rubinstein L (1989) Pathology of tumours of the nervous system, 5th edn. Edward Arnold, London, pp 730–746
- Samii M, Eghbal R, Carvalho GA, Matthies C (2001) Surgical management of brainstem cavernomas. J Neurosurg 95:825–832
- Schneider BF, Eberhard DA, Steiner LE (1997) Histopathology of arteriovenous malformations after gamma knife radiosurgery. J Neurosurg 87:352–357

- Scott RM, Barnes P, Kupsky W, Adelman LS (1992) Cavernous angiomas of the central nervous system in children. J Neurosurg 76:38–46
- Sharma V, Babu PP, Singh A, Singh S, Singh R (2007) Iron induced experimental cortical seizures: electroencephalographic mapping of seizure spread in the subcortical brain areas. Seizures 16:680–690
- Sommer B, Kasper BS, Coras R, Blumcke I, Hamer HM, Buchfelder M, Roessler K (2013) Surgical management of epilepsy due to cerebral cavernomas using neuronavigation and intraoperative MR imaging. Neurol Res 35:1076–1083
- Sommers Smith SK, Smith DM (2002) Beta blockade induces apoptosis in cultured capillary endothelial cells. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 38:298–304
- Stavrou I, Baumgartner C, Frischer JM, Trattnig S, Knosp E (2008) Long-term seizure control after resection of supratentorial cavernomas: a retrospective singlecenter study in 53 patients. Neurosurgery 63:888–896
- Tang AT, Choi JP, Kotzin JJ, Yang Y, Hong CC, Hobson N, Girard R, Zeineddine HA, Lightle R, Moore T, Cao Y, Shenkar R, Chen M, Mericko P, Yang J, Li L, Tanes C, Kobuley D, Võsa U, Whitehead KJ, Li DY, Franke L, Hart B, Schwaninger M, Henao-Mejia J, Morrison L, Kim H, Awad IA, Zheng X, Kahn ML (2017) Endothelial TLR4 and the microbiome drive cerebral cavernous malformations. Nature 545:305–310
- Tirakotai W, Sure U, Benes L, Krischek B, Bien S, Bertalanffy H (2003) Image-guided transsylvian, transinsular approach for insular cavernous angiomas. Neurosurgery 53:1299–1305
- Tirakotai W, Fremann S, Soerensen N, Roggendorf W, Siegel AM, Mennel HD, Zhu Y, Bertalanffy H, Sure U (2006) Biological activity of paediatric cerebral cavernomas: an immunohistochemical study of 28 patients. Childs Nerv Syst 22:685–691
- Ulrich NH, Kockro RA, Bellut D, Amaxopoulou C, Bozinov O, Burkhardt JK, Sarnthein J, Kollias SS, Bertalanffy H (2014) Brainstem cavernoma surgery with the support of pre- and postoperative diffusion tensor imaging: initial experiences and clinical course of 23 patients. Neurosurg Rev 37:481–491
- Van Gompel JJ, Rubio J, Cascino GD, Worrell GA, Meyer JB (2009) Electrocorticography guided resection of temporal cavernoma: is electrocorticography warranted and does it alter the surgical approach? J Neurosurg 110:1179–1185
- Villanueva P, Louis RG, Cutler AR, Wei H, Sale D, Duong HT, Barkhoudarian G, Kelly DF (2015) Endoscopic and gravity-assisted resection of medial temporooccipital lesions through a supracerebellar transtentorial approach: technical notes with case illustrations. Oper Neurosurg (Hagerstown) 11:475–483
- Vinchon M, Leblond P, Caron S, Delestret I, Baroncini M, Coche B (2011) Radiation-induced tumors in children irradiated for brain tumor: a longitudinal study. Childs Nerv Syst 27:445–453
- Wang CC, Liu A, Zhang JT, Sun B, Zhao YL (2003) Surgical management of brain-stem cavernous

malformations: report of 137cases. Surg Neurol 59:444-454

- Wang X, Tao Z, You C, Yi Liu QL (2013) Extended resection of hemosiderin fringe is better for seizure outcome: a study in patients with cavernous malformation associated with refractory epilepsy. Neurol India 61:288–292
- Wassef M, Blei F, Adams D, Alomari A, Baselga E, Berenstein A, Burrows P, Frieden IJ, Garzon MC, Lopez-Gutierrez JC, Lord DJE, Mitchel S, Powell J, Prendiville J, Vikkula M (2015) Vascular anomalies classification: recommendations from the International Society for the Study of Vascular Anomalies. Pediatrics 136:e203
- Xia C, Zhang R, Mao Y, Zhou L (2009) Pediatric cavernous malformation in the central nervous system: report of 66 cases. Pediatr Neurosurg 45:105–113
- Young A, Poretti A, Bosemani T, Goel R, Huisman TAGM (2017) Sensitivity of susceptibility-weighted imaging in detecting developmental venous anomalies and associated cavernomas and microhemorrhages in children. Neuroradiology 59:797–802

- Zabramski JM, Wascher TM, Spetzler RF, Johnson B, Golfinos J, Drayer BP, Brown B, Rigamonti D, Brown G (1994) The natural history of familial cavernous malformations: results of an ongoing study. J Neurosurg 80:422–432
- Zabramski JM, Kalani MY, Filippidis AS, Spetzler RF (2016) Propranolol treatment of cavernous malformations with symptomatic hemorrhage. World Neurosurg 88:631–639
- Zhou HJ, Qin L, Zhang H, Tang W, Ji W, He Y, Liang X, Wang Z, Yuan Q, Vortmeyer A, Toomre D, Fuh G, Yan M, Kluger MS, Wu D, Min W (2016) Augmented endothelial exocytosis of angiopoietin-2 resulting from CCM3-deficiency contributes to the progression of cerebral cavernous malformation. Nat Med 22:1033– 1042
- Zhu WZ, Qi JP, Zhan CJ, Shu HG, Zhang L, Wang CY, Xia LM, Hu JW, Feng DY (2008) Magnetic resonance susceptibility weighted imaging in detecting intracranial calcification and hemorrhage. Chin Med J 121:2021–2025